**RECEIVED**  
**Nov 21 2022**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas, Twelfth Judicial Circuit  
Hon. Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000303  
Civil Action No. 2017-CP-21-01375

April Jones, ..... Respondent,

v.

Tim Ringer, individually and as employee/agent of Wal-Mart Stores Inc. d/b/a Wal-Mart Store #630; Wal-Mart Stores, Inc; and Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P. .... Defendants,

of which

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc; and Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P. are ..... Appellants.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS WAL-MART  
STORES, INC. AND WAL-MART STORES EAST, L.P.**

## INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from a familiar fact pattern; it is governed by well-established law; and it is controlled by strikingly similar precedent. April Jones was walking in the Walmart in Florence, South Carolina, when she noticed an unusual noise under her sandal. She investigated and saw a tiny piece of metal on the bottom of her right sandal. She had seen no metal or debris on the floor, had no recollection of stepping on anything in the store, had no pain in her foot, and did not know where the metal came from, what it was, how it got lodged in her sandal, or how long it had been there. She did not immediately remove the metal from her sandal, but continued walking and talking with customers for around 90 seconds before bending down again and removing what turned out to be a 7/8-inch roofing nail from her sandal. Ms. Jones, who was already beset by several preexisting health conditions including sores and ulcers on her right foot, later developed an infection in her foot that, after a series of unsuccessful medical procedures, ultimately led to the amputation of her leg.

Ms. Jones' injuries and amputation are tragic, but there is no evidence that they resulted from any negligence by Walmart. Ms. Jones presented no evidence that Walmart created the alleged hazard, had actual or constructive knowledge of the alleged hazard, or failed to take ordinary care to keep the store in a reasonably safe condition. Rather, she rests her case on unsupported (and implausible) speculation that perhaps the roofing nail *could* have come from a wooden pallet (even though such nails are not used to make pallets) that *might* have previously been in that section of the store and which hypothetically *may* have been overlooked during the regular, recurring cleaning and safety procedures that Walmart had undertaken that morning.

South Carolina law is clear. It is Ms. Jones' burden to present *evidence*, not mere speculation or *res ipsa loquitur*, from which a jury could find Walmart liable. She did not do so.

Indeed, the undisputed evidence showed quite the contrary. Each morning—including the morning at issue—Walmart associates visually inspect and physically sweep and clean the floors before 8:00 a.m. to conclude their overnight stocking activities. Each morning—including the morning at issue—a manager conducts a personal walk-through to inspect the entire store and verify it is in safe condition. Each morning and throughout the day—including the morning and the day at issue—Walmart’s employees visually inspect pallets brought into the store to see if they are in appropriate condition. And all day, every day—including the day at issue—Walmart associates performed safety sweeps (visual inspections) of their designated areas every 1.5 to 2 hours. Ms. Jones presented no evidence disputing these inspection practices or showing that they were not conducted that day.

Ms. Jones presented no evidence from which a jury could find mandatory elements of her claim, including (1) that Walmart either created the alleged hazard or had actual or constructive knowledge of it, and (2) that Walmart failed to take reasonable and ordinary care to keep the store in reasonably safe condition. Either one of these failures of proof is a basis on which Walmart was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The trial court, therefore, reversibly and prejudicially erred by denying Walmart’s motions for directed verdict, JNOV, and reconsideration. The trial court further erred by denying Walmart’s motion for new trial absolute or *nisi remittitur* given several prejudicial errors throughout the trial. This Court should reverse.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by denying Walmart's Motion for Directed Verdict and, later, for JNOV when the record lacked any evidence to establish a mandatory element of Plaintiff's claim: that Walmart either negligently created the hazardous condition or had actual or constructive knowledge of it?
2. Did the trial court err by denying Walmart's Motion for Directed Verdict and, later, JNOV when the record lacked any evidence to establish another mandatory element of Plaintiff's claim: that Walmart negligently breached the duty it owed to Plaintiff as an invitee?
3. Did the trial court err by denying Walmart's Motion for New Trial when, during the trial, Plaintiff abruptly and falsely blurted out previously-undisclosed testimony in violation of Rule 408, SCRE about a supposed settlement offer made by Walmart shortly after the incident?
4. Did the trial court err by denying Walmart's Motion for New Trial when, during Plaintiff's opening statement, she relied improperly on photographs that the court later excluded, but regarding which the trial court refused to give a curative instruction?
5. Did the trial court err by denying Walmart's Motion for New Trial when the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict and, relatedly, the verdict was improperly motivated by emotion and prejudice towards Walmart?
6. Did the trial court err by denying Walmart's Motion for New Trial *nisi remittitur* when the verdict amount was excessive and disproportionate?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **I. Pleadings, initial proceedings, and dispositive motions.**

April Jones filed the Summons and Complaint initiating this proceeding on May 22, 2017, in the Florence County Court of Common Pleas. *See* Compl. (R. 29). The Complaint named Tim Ringer individually and as employee/agent of Wal-Mart Stores, as well as Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. *See id.* Ms. Jones alleged that Walmart's negligence allowed Plaintiff to step on a nail while perusing the aisles of her local Walmart, which allegedly caused her an injury that, after a series of unsuccessful medical procedures, caused the amputation of her leg. *See id.* ¶¶ 10–13 (R. 30–31). Based on these allegations, the Complaint claimed negligence. *See id.* ¶ 16 (R. 31).

Defendants removed the action to the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina, Florence Division. *See* Notice of Removal (R. 36). Plaintiff filed a Motion to Remand, and the District Court remanded the matter to the state trial court. *See* Remand Order (R. 1).

Ms. Jones filed an Amended Complaint on January 16, 2018, adding the sole proper corporate defendant: Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P. *See* Am. Compl. (R. 44). Defendants collectively answered the Amended Complaint. *See* Answer to Am. Compl. (R. 50).

On April 24, 2019, Defendants filed a Motion for Continuance and Entry of Scheduling Order, contending that (1) counsel for Defendants had other jury trials scheduled for the same term, (2) Plaintiff failed to produce her Social Security Administration records as mandated in a previous status conference, and (3) Walmart's 30(b)(6) deposition had yet to be scheduled. *See* Mot. for Continuance and Entry of Scheduling Order (R. 59). For these reasons, the Motion asked the trial court to continue the trial beyond the May 13, 2019 term of court. *Id.* The Court denied the Motion but ordered that be called for trial during the May 28, 2019 term of court. *See* Order (May 13, 2019) (R. 11).

On May 17, 2019, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing that no genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether Defendants had created the hazard or had actual or constructive notice of it. *See* Defs.' Mot. for Summ. J. (R. 65). Defendants also argued that no genuine issue of material fact existed as to Defendant Tim Ringer. *See id.*

On May 23, 2019, the parties had a telephone conference with the court, during which the Judge stated that if Walmart did not consent to a Rule 40(j) dismissal with leave to refile, the case would proceed to trial on May 28. Walmart did not consent, and Ms. Jones filed a Notice of Appeal about 30 minutes after the telephone call, appealing from the Order denying Walmart's Motion for a Continuance, and asserting, without explanation, that the Order "resulted in, among

other things, subsequent rulings disqualifying counsel.” See Notice of Appeal (May 23, 2019) (R. 94). Briefing and resolution of Walmart’s then-pending Motion for Summary Judgment was delayed during Plaintiff’s interlocutory appeal.

## **II. Plaintiff’s interlocutory appeal and subsequent dispositive motions.**

Activity before the trial court ceased while the parties awaited an appellate court ruling on Walmart’s Motion to Dismiss the Appeal. The Court of Appeals granted the Motion to Dismiss the Appeal, holding that the appealed order was not, in fact, immediately appealable. See Order (R. 16). The Court of Appeals subsequently denied Ms. Jones’ Petition for Rehearing, and the Supreme Court denied her Petition for Certiorari and remitted the case on June 24, 2020. See Order (Nov. 14, 2019) (R. 17); Order (June 24, 2020) (R. 19).

Following the remand to the trial court, Ms. Jones filed a memorandum in opposition to Defendants’ still-pending Motion for Summary Judgment. See Pl.’s Mem. in Opp’n to Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J. (August 10, 2020) (R. 96). The court entered a Form 4 Order denying Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment on August 24, 2020. See Order (R. 20).

Fourteen months later, following pandemic-related continuances and delays that were then common throughout the judicial system, Defendants again moved for Summary Judgment, arguing that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to Plaintiff’s cause of action for negligence, and, alternatively, arguing that the court should grant summary judgment as to Plaintiff’s claim for punitive damages. See Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J. (October 27, 2021) (R. 558). The court orally denied the motion. See Pre-Trial Hr’g Tr. at 100:11–12 (R. 2645).

## **III. Pre-trial motions.**

The trial court heard pre-trial motions, including several motions *in limine* on various evidentiary issues. See Pre-Trial Hr’g Tr. (R. 2546). Defendants’ first motion *in limine* sought

the exclusion of photographs of the store and of a staged, purportedly damaged pallet taken by Plaintiff almost four years after the incident during an unauthorized incursion into Walmart, where Plaintiff's counsel partially destroyed a wooden pallet and then photographed it to use as "evidence." *See* Defs.' Mot. in Lim. to Exclude Photographic Evid. and for Sanctions (R. 924). As evidence by store surveillance footage, Plaintiff's counsel, accompanied by two confederates, had entered Walmart without giving notice or seeking leave to conduct an inspection, obtained gloves and a hammer from within the store, located and intentionally damaged one or more wooden pallets, and then took photographs and videos of the "damaged" pallet in the store. *See id.* at 3 (R. 926). Plaintiff's counsel also took photographs and video of pallets located on the opposite side of the store from the location where Ms. Jones noticed the nail in her sandal, and took photographs of pallets located outside the store in the trash collection area. *See id.* at 5 (R. 928). Walmart objected to Plaintiff's attempt to use these photos—taken nearly four years *after* Ms. Jones' injury—as "evidence" in the case. The court excluded the photographs of the staged, partially destroyed pallet, but reserved its ruling on the other photographs of the store, including those taken in 2019 showing pallets in other areas of the store. *See* Pre-Trial Hr'g Tr. at 59:18 to 62:6 (R. 2604 to 2607).

During the November 5, 2021 hearing, the court allowed into evidence, over Defendants' objections, the 7/8-inch roofing nail that had allegedly caused Plaintiff's injury. *See* Pre-Trial Hr'g Tr. at 71:3–4 (R. 2616). The court noted that the parties agreed not to enter evidence that had not been produced or disclosed in discovery, and declined to allow photographs of alleged hazards from different stores unless needed for impeachment (and only then after a hearing on the issue). *Id.* at 71:9 to 72:9 (R. 2616 to 2617). The court excluded any evidence or testimony about magnetic sweepers as a precautionary measure; declined to rule on the hearsay statements by doctors; and

excluded lay opinion testimony about Plaintiff's medical injuries and causation. *Id.* at 73:9 to 76:3 (R. 2618 to 2621).

Defendants also argued at the hearing that the opinion of Plaintiff's expert, Bryan Durig, should be excluded. The court ruled that Durig could testify that the nail at issue was a roofing nail; that nails used in pallets range from 1.25 inches to 3 inches long; and that the longer the nail, the stronger the connection. *Id.* at 62:8–16 (R. 2607). The court prohibited him from opining that someone could, hypothetically, use a 7/8-inch roofing nail to construct or repair a wooden pallet. *Id.* at 62:17–24 (R. 2607). The court also prohibited him from offering the opinion that the most probable source of the nail was a wooden pallet. *Id.* at 63:8–18 (R. 2608).

#### **IV. Trial.**

Trial commenced on November 8, 2021, and continued until November 12, 2021. During opening statements, Plaintiff's counsel showed excluded photographs of damaged pallets taken during Plaintiff's 2019 improper inspection of Walmart's store in Florence, South Carolina. *See* Trial Tr. at 62:24 to 63:18 (R. 2709 to 2710). Defense counsel promptly objected, and the court sustained the objection, ruling that all the disputed photographs would be excluded. *Id.* at 63:21 to 67:2 (R. 2710 to 2714). The trial court did not offer a curative instruction, however, even though the jury had already viewed some of the photographs of damaged pallets with no context as to what they were and when they were taken. *Id.* at 67:3–15 (R. 2714).

On the third day of trial, during Plaintiff's direct examination, she unexpectedly, abruptly, and falsely testified that Walmart had offered to settle with her for \$50,000 just three days after the incident and before any of Plaintiff's amputations or significant medical treatment. *Id.* at 449:22 to 450:3 (R. 3097 to 3098). Defendant moved for mistrial on the basis that this testimony was inadmissible under Rule 408 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence; Plaintiff agreed and

also moved for a mistrial; but the trial court denied the motions and issued a curative instruction to the jury. *Id.* at 456:1 to 458:21 (R. 3104 to 3106). During the trial, the court permitted passionate and emotional testimony from one of Ms. Jones' children about her life as an amputee. *See, e.g.*, Trial Tr. at 321:10 to 329:1 (R. 2968 to 2976). Even though at least one juror was openly crying during this testimony, the trial court allowed four more of Ms. Jones' children to testify cumulatively in the same manner. *See id.* at 336:13 to 345:5 (R. 2983 to 2992); *id.* at 346:11 to 358:13 (R. 2993 to 3005); *id.* at 361:6 to 365:7 (R. 3008 to 3012); *id.* at 367:11 to 373:6 (R. 3014 to 3020); *see also id.* at 374:2–11 (R. 3021) (preserving on the record Walmart's objection pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, to this cumulative and unduly prejudicial evidence).

At the close of Plaintiff's case, Defendants moved for a directed verdict on liability. *Id.* at 552:25 to 554:13 (R. 3200 to 3202). The court denied the motion without explanation. *Id.* at 563:21–23 (R. 3211). At the close of all evidence, Defendants renewed their Motion for Directed Verdict on liability and also moved for a directed verdict on punitive damages, arguing that Plaintiff had presented no evidence of willful or wanton behavior on behalf of Walmart or Mr. Ringer. *Id.* at 565:14–17 (R. 3213). The court denied the directed verdict as to liability, but granted the directed verdict as to punitive damages, holding there was no evidence of conscious wrongdoing. *Id.* at 572:19–25 (R. 3220).

During closing arguments, and despite the trial court finding as a matter of law that punitive damages were not appropriate, Plaintiff's counsel asked the jury to penalize Walmart and to "make them hear it in Arkansas." *See id.* at 572:1–25 (R. 3220); *id.* at 807:22–23 (R. 3455). The jury found for Defendant Tim Ringer but against Walmart and awarded \$10 million dollars in actual damages on submitted actual damages of around \$542,000. *See Form 4 Verdict Form* (R. 23).

**V. Post-trial motion.**

Walmart filed a Motion for JNOV, or, in the alternative, for a new trial absolute or a new trial *nisi remittitur*. See Walmart's Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for J. Notwithstanding the Verdict and Mot. for a New Trial (November 22, 2021) (R. 1519). Walmart argued that it was entitled to judgment notwithstanding the jury's verdict because Plaintiff did not introduce evidence that would allow the jury to find for Plaintiff on necessary elements of her claim, including the requirement that she prove that Walmart created the hazard or had actual or constructive knowledge of it *and* that Walmart failed to act with ordinary and reasonable care to keep the store in reasonably safe condition. *Id.* Walmart explained that either one of those failures of proof, standing alone, was a basis on which a directed verdict or JNOV must be entered for the store. *Id.* Walmart argued in the alternative that it was entitled to a new trial absolute or *nisi remittitur* in light of multiple prejudicial errors that occurred during the trial. *Id.* Plaintiff filed a motion in opposition. See Pl.'s Resp. in Opp'n to Defs.' Mot. for J. Notwithstanding the Verdict and Mot. for New Trial (R. 1681). The court denied Walmart's motion. See Form 4 Order (R. 26).

Walmart timely filed its Notice of Appeal on March 16, 2022. Plaintiff filed a Notice of Cross Appeal on March 18, 2022, but later withdrew her cross-appeal.

**STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Plaintiff is a 53-year-old resident of Florence County, South Carolina. See Am. Compl. ¶ 2 (R. 44); Trial Tr. 140:3–6 (R. 2787). Both before and after the incident giving rise to this appeal, she has suffered from non-insulin-dependent diabetes, peripheral vascular disease, pulmonary hypertension, and end-stage renal disease. See Trial Tr. 107:10–11 (R. 2754); 110:1–3 (R. 2757); 110:16–20 (R. 2757); 111:6–10 (R. 2758); 112:11–21 (R. 2759).

On June 26, 2015, Plaintiff visited Walmart Store #630 in Florence, South Carolina. *See* Am. Compl. ¶ 1 (R. 44). At the time of this visit, she already had ulcers on the base of her right second toe and in the area from the middle to end of her right foot beyond the arch. *See* Trial Tr. 115:12–24 (R. 2762).

Plaintiff alleges that while walking out of the produce section of the store, she heard a scraping sound under her sandal. *See* Am. Compl. ¶ 12 (R. 46). At 11:32:34 a.m., she bent down to look at her flip-flop sandal and noticed something metal in her right sandal. *See* Trial Tr. 394:1–16 (R. 3042). She had not seen any metal or debris on the floor, had no recollection of stepping on anything in the store, and had no information about where the metal came from, how it became lodged in her sandal, or how long it had been in her sandal. *See id.* at 501:17–25 (R. 3149); *id.* at 539:19 to 540:8 (R. 3187 to 3188). Plaintiff did not feel any pain in her foot and did not immediately remove anything from her sandal. *See id.* at 395:11 (R. 3043); 494:13–20 (R. 3142). Instead, she continued walking and talking with customers for at least one minute and thirty seconds before bending down again and removing what turned out to be a nail from her sandal at 11:34:10 a.m. *See id.* at 495:5 to 498:18 (R. 3143 to 3146). She placed the nail on a shelf and walked down the aisle to get bleach. *See id.* at 401:17 to 402:16 (R. 3049 to 3050); *id.* at 403:10–15 (R. 3051). At 11:35:53 a.m., she retrieved the nail from the shelf and took it to customer service. *See id.* at 403:24 to 404:15 (R. 3051 to 3052).

The nail was later identified as a 7/8th inch roofing nail used to put shingles on a house. *See id.* at 720:15–20 (R. 3368). Multiple witnesses testified that this type of nail is not used in pallets on the Walmart sales floor or in pallets generally. *See id.* at 217:22 to 218:8 (R. 2864 to 2865); *id.* at 306:25 to 307:2 (R. 2953 to 2954).

Plaintiff testified that she had not seen a nail or any other debris on the floor of the Walmart store before the incident, and she did not know if the nail came from Walmart or elsewhere. *See id.* at 501:17–25 (R. 3149); *id.* at 539:19 to 540:8 (R. 3187 to 3188). Store manager Tim Ringer testified that when she found the nail in her sandal, Plaintiff was about sixty-four feet away from the only wooden pallet in the entire area. *See id.* at 224:22 to 225:17 (R. 2871 to 2872). Plaintiff admitted after watching the surveillance video that there were no pallets in her area. *See id.* at 488:23 to 489:2 (R. 3136 to 3137).

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