**RECEIVED**

**Nov 22 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas, Twelfth Judicial Circuit  
Hon. Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000303  
Civil Action No. 2017-CP-21-01375

April Jones, .....Respondent,

v.

Tim Ringer, individually and as employee/agent of Wal-Mart Stores Inc. d/b/a Wal-Mart Store #630, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc, and Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P., .....Defendants,

of which

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc, and Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P. are .....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

George M. Hearn  
HEARN & HEARN, P.A.  
1411 First Avenue

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

law presumes that the jury followed that instruction.<sup>14</sup> *State v. Grovenstein*, 335 S.C. 347, 353, 517 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1999) (“An instruction to disregard incompetent evidence is usually deemed to have cured the error ... Moreover, jurors are presumed to follow the law as instructed to them.”). Not only does this presumption severely undermine Walmart’s argument, the trial court here went even further to ensure that the jury would adhere to its curative instruction by specifically admonishing the foreman as follows: “Mr. Foreman, you are to enforce this order. There is to be no discussion whatsoever about this matter.” (R. p. 3107, lines 5-6). This additional language, together with the fact that there was no other mention of this matter in the record, provides additional proof that the jury in fact obeyed the court’s instruction. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Walmart’s motion for a mistrial and thus, reversal is not warranted.

**B. The trial court did not err in denying Walmart’s motion for a new trial based on a brief display of photographs during Plaintiff’s opening statement.**

The trial court did not err in declining to give a curative instruction during opening statements, and even if one should have been given, Walmart cannot demonstrate the failure to do so was prejudicial. Respondent’s counsel sought to display photographs during his opening statement that had not been excluded during the pretrial hearing. (R. p. 2606, line 22 – 2607, line 6). Walmart objected and the trial court sustained the objection. (R. p. 2608, line 15 – 2612, line 2). Because the trial court ultimately sustained Walmart’s objection, it now has the burden to show that the failure to give a curative instruction was prejudicial error.

---

<sup>14</sup> Walmart relies on a case involving a request for specific performance before a master-in-equity, but that case is vastly different. *See Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 309, 683 S.E.2d 803 (Ct. App. 2009). Because there was no jury, there was no curative instruction or presumption that the jury follow the instructions given. Further, there is no mention of a mistrial either in the court’s opinion.

Walmart mischaracterizes the record in contending the trial court excluded the photographs shown during Jones' opening statement. During the hearing on Walmart's motion *in limine*, the trial court only excluded the photos that it concluded demonstrated destructive testing; the court concluded the remaining were admissible. (R. p. 2606, line 22 – 2607, line 6). The trial court's ruling was in response to Walmart's contention that all of the 2019 photographs were admissible. (R. p. 2605, line 17 – 2606, line 11). Accordingly, for Walmart to contend that the photographs displayed to the jury were previously excluded is disingenuous. Even though the trial court cautioned that its ruling was preliminary as to the remaining, admissible photographs, this was sufficient for Jones to rely on those during the opening statement.

Regardless, Walmart received what it wanted, as the trial court sustained the objection. Walmart completely fails to show that the display of these photographs served as the basis for the jury's verdict. Not only did the trial court instruct the jury that the evidence must come from the witness stand and through corresponding evidence, (R. p. 3457, lines 12-15), the overall length of the trial, including the eleven witnesses that testified during Respondent's case-in-chief, militates strongly against the suggestion that Walmart suffered any prejudice from the brief display of these photos. *State v. Reyes*, 432 S.C. 394, 409, 853 S.E.2d 334, 342 (2020) ("Jurors are presumed to follow the law as instructed to them."). Evidentiary matters are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. *Busillo v. City of North Charleston*, 404 S.C. 604, 610, 745 S.E.2d 142, 146 (Ct. App. 2013) ("The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and the court's decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion."). Here, the trial court sustained Walmart's objection to the use of the photos during Jones' counsel's opening statement, thereby providing Walmart the relief it requested, and Walmart fails to demonstrate any prejudice

in the brief display. *State v. White*, 371 S.C.439, 446, 639 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2006) (“[E]ven without a curative instruction, an error not shown to be prejudicial to the appellant does not constitute grounds for reversal.”).

Moreover, Walmart employees testified the wooden pallets are sometimes damaged in transit to the store. (R. p. 2963, line 23 – 2964, line 16). Store Manager Ringer testified that although vendor display pallets are inspected for stability and/or appearance, they are not inspected for nails. (R. 2889, lines 15-17). Kevin Lane testified that occasionally, when the pallets are received off the truck, they are broken. (R. p. 3247, lines 6-15). He also stated that he had witnessed pallets on the floor that were not intact, and when that happens, there is “wood everywhere.” *Id.* Accordingly, Walmart cannot show how the isolated display of photographs during Jones’ opening statement tainted the jury’s verdict when multiple witnesses testified about the damaged nature of the wooden pallets. In sum, Walmart received the relief it requested by having its objection sustained, and it cannot show prejudice from the trial court’s discretionary decision not to give a curative instruction.

**C. The trial court properly denied Walmart’s motion for a new trial under the thirteenth juror doctrine.**

In arguing that it was entitled to a new trial based on the thirteenth juror doctrine, Walmart rehashes its argument concerning the lack of evidence to support the jury’s verdict. In so doing, Walmart relies on cases where our appellate courts have affirmed the trial court’s decision to grant a new trial pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine but fails to identify how they relate to the specific factual scenario here. Indeed, Walmart never presents a case with analogous procedural facts; that is, it fails to cite a *single* case where an appellate court determined a trial court erred in

denying a motion for a new trial based on this doctrine.<sup>15</sup> However, given the broad discretion accorded to trial courts in deciding whether to invoke the thirteenth juror doctrine, this is not surprising. *Burke v. AnMed Health*, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“The trial court’s discretion to grant or deny a new trial as the thirteenth juror is very broad.”). This wide discretion is accurately summed up with the following principle: “[a]n order denying a new trial on this theory will hardly ever be reversed.” *Id.*

Respondent refers the Court to its discussion on the sufficiency of the evidence to demonstrate that more than enough evidence was presented to show that Walmart was negligent, and thus, the trial court committed no error in declining to rely on the thirteenth juror doctrine to invade the province of the jury. Walmart’s second argument is equally meritless, as there is no evidence that the damages award was motivated by emotion and prejudice towards Walmart. Rather, Walmart makes light of the fact that Respondent endured multiple surgeries culminating in an amputation above her knee—a catastrophic injury which prevents her from ever walking normally again—thereby severely and permanently impacting the quality and enjoyment of her life. April Jones’ permanent impairment is immediately obvious to everyone, yet Walmart advances the rather stunning argument that it was error to permit her children to testify as to the debilitating effects of her injuries, notwithstanding the fact that it is commonplace for spouses, children, and other family members to describe the effects of a loved one’s injury at trial.

---

<sup>15</sup> Accordingly, it is clear the cases Walmart relies on turn on the standard of review. See *Trivelas v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 357 S.C. 545, 593 S.E.2d 504 (Ct. App. 2004); *S.C. Dept. of Highways and Pub. Transp. v. Mooneyham*, 275 S.C. 205, 269 S.E.2d 329 (1980); *Ex parte Travelers Home and Marine Ins. Co. v. Stringfellow*, 427 S.C. 238, 830 S.E.2d 718 (Ct. App. 2019); *Sorin Equip. Co., Inc. v. The Firm, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 359, 474 S.E.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1996). In each case, the trial court *granted* a new trial, unlike here, which was affirmed on appeal based on the standard of review. Nothing in these cases suggest that the appellate courts determined that a new trial was mandatory as a matter of law; thus, they shed no light on whether the trial court abused its broad authority when declining to invoke the thirteenth juror doctrine.

Moreover, even assuming there was a meritorious objection to be made to this testimony, Walmart never made it, thus rendering this issue unpreserved. Not only was Walmart’s purported Rule 403, SCRE objection not properly raised, defense counsel specifically declined to assert it on the record, stating, “We briefly discussed our Rule 403 motion. I think we’ll just let that – let that lie and *not* make that on the record.” (R. p. 3021, lines 2-4) (emphasis added). *See York v. Conway Ford, Inc.*, 325 S.C. 170, 173, 480 S.E.2d 726, 728 (1997) (“An objection made during an off-the-record conference which is not made part of the record does not preserve the question for review.”). Thus, even assuming *arguendo* that Walmart could have validly objected to this line of testimony—something Jones strenuously denies—it did not do so contemporaneously and specifically waived its prior objection.

Further, Walmart’s insistence that the trial court should have ordered a new trial based on the size of the verdict ignores longstanding precedent that a “trial court and [an appellate court] must give ‘substantial deference’ to the jury’s determination of damages.” *Kelley v. Wren*, 415 S.C. 379, 393, 782 S.E.2d 406, 413 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *Todd v. Joyner*, 385 S.C. 509, 517, 685 S.E.2d 613, 618 (Ct. App. 2008)). Additionally, Walmart belatedly challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the size of the verdict, but that challenge is equally unavailing because the jury returned a general verdict; therefore, it is impossible to delineate the specific categories of damages. *See Steele v. Dillard*, 327 S.C.340, 343, 486 S.E.2d 278, 279 (Ct. App. 1997) (“[A]ppellate review cannot be readily had here because we cannot discern the precise basis of the jury’s determination.”). Jones’ injuries were devastating and readily apparent for everyone to see, and her medical expenses exceeded half a million dollars. The trial court properly refused to order a new trial based on the size of the verdict.

**D. The trial court correctly denied Walmart’s motion for a new trial *Nisi Remittitur* because the verdict was based on the evidence and not excessive.**

It is well-established that “compelling reasons must be given to justify invading the jury’s province” when deciding whether to grant a new trial *nisi remittitur*. *Howard v. Roberson*, 376 S.C. 143, 155, 654 S.E.2d 877, 883 (Ct. App. 2007). Further, the decision to grant or deny a “new trial *nisi remittitur* is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *Proctor v. Dep’t. of Health and Env’t Control*, 368 S.C. 279, 322, 628 S.E.2d 496, 519 (Ct. App. 2006). Affording a trial court this discretion is consistent with the fact that the trial court, not an appellate court, is “more familiar than we with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial . . .” *Becker v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 629, 639, 529 S.E.2d 758, 763 (Ct. App. 2000) (quoting *Daniel v. Sharpe Construction Co.*, 270 S.C. 687, 690-91, 244 S.E.2d 312, 314 (1978)). Deference is especially necessary where the damages award encompasses intangible and nonpecuniary components. *Id.* (“The fact [the trial judge] heard the evidence and was more familiar than we with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial gives him, we think, a better informed view than we have. This is particularly true when the elements of damage are intangibles and the appraisal depends somewhat on an observation of the beneficiaries and evaluation of their testimony.”). Additionally, an appellate court shall not disturb the amount of the verdict because “[t]he credibility of witnesses is for the triers of the facts . . . A reviewing court will not interfere with the amount of the verdict unless [it] is either so grossly excessive or inadequate that it must be deemed the result of the jury’s disregard of the facts and the court’s instructions.” *Craven v. Cunningham*, 292 S.C. 441, 443, 357 S.E.2d 23, 25 (1987).

Walmart relies on *Becker* in an attempt to show the trial court abused its discretion in failing to find the verdict excessive, however, that case actually supports Respondent’s position. In *Becker*, the Court of Appeals upheld a grant of *nisi remittitur* in which the verdict was reduced

to 17.19 times the amount of the admitted medical bills.<sup>16</sup> The plaintiff, Barbara Becker, was injured while shopping at Walmart when an item fell off a shelf and landed on her foot. Although she suffered a permanent injury to her foot, the chronic pain was analogized to having a fracture that would not heal. Unlike April Jones, Becker still had the use of her foot. Walmart's suggestion that the damages award somehow should not account for her amputation because that was allegedly caused by poor healing utterly ignores the fact that the jury clearly found the root cause of her injury to be from stepping on the nail, which is supported by the expert testimony. (R. p. 2750, line 18 – 2751, line 16). Walmart's efforts to blame Jones' injuries on her pre-existing condition was obviously rejected by the jury and should likewise be rejected by this Court.

Moreover, the appellate courts of this state have upheld verdicts in excess of the ratio in *Becker*. For example, in *Curtis v. Blake*, the court of appeals upheld the trial court's decision not to alter a \$450,000 jury verdict that represented "almost one hundred times the cost of [the plaintiff's] medical treatment and his lost wages." 392 S.C. 494, 501, 709 S.E.2d 79, 82 (Ct. App. 2011). In *Hassell v. City of Columbia*, the court of appeals determined the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the defendant's motion for a new trial absolute or *nisi remittitur* when the jury's verdict was within the range suggested to the jury. 430 S.C. 620, 636, 846 S.E.2d 373, 382 (Ct. App. 2020).<sup>17</sup>

Walmart also raises another unpreserved issue concerning Respondent's closing argument wherein counsel allegedly invited the jury to "punish" Walmart. The record clearly shows that at

---

<sup>16</sup> In *Becker*, the verdict was reduced to \$525,000.00 on \$30,538.44 in medical bills. That is a multiplier of 17.19 on far less serious injuries. Applying the same 17.19 multiplier that Walmart advocates to this Plaintiff's medical bills of \$534,935.70 yields a verdict of \$9,195,544.68. In its memorandum in opposition to Walmart's post-trial motions, Jones offered to accept this multiple argued by Walmart, but Walmart refused the offer. (R. p. 1694).

<sup>17</sup> Here, Respondent's counsel suggested a verdict of nearly \$16.7 million. (R. p. 3425, line 12). Walmart did not object to this figure.

no time did Walmart ever object to any of Respondent’s closing argument, and therefore, the issue is not preserved for review. *Webb v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 364 S.C. 639, 657, 615 S.E.2d 440, 450 (2005) (“CSX complains the jury was erroneously allowed to focus on its net worth, citing to Plaintiff’s closing argument. Since there was no contemporaneous objection, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.”). This Court should not permit Walmart to bootstrap its arguments concerning the trial court’s failure to grant a new trial or reduce the jury’s verdict by relying on unpreserved arguments.<sup>18</sup> *Hassell*, 430 S.C. at 637, 846 S.E.2d at 382 (finding whether counsel inappropriately argued to the jury during closing argument that the City “needed to ‘pay attention’” was not preserved for review since there was no objection). Moreover, Walmart is simply wrong in its characterization of Jones’ counsel’s closing argument. Despite Walmart’s claim, Jones’ counsel never used the word “punish” in closing argument, likely because the trial court had struck Jones’ request for punitive damages. Walmart’s mischaracterization of the record should not be countenanced by this Court.

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